



Assemblée générale

Distr. GÉNÉRALE

A/HRC/7/2/Add.1 26 octobre 2007

FRANÇAIS

Original: ESPAGNOL

CONSEIL DES DROITS DE L'HOMME Septième session Point 3 de l'ordre du jour

PROMOTION ET PROTECTION DE TOUS LES DROITS DE L'HOMME, CIVILS, POLITIQUES, ÉCONOMIQUES, SOCIAUX ET CULTURELS, Y COMPRIS LE DROIT AU DÉVELOPPEMENT

Rapport du Groupe de travail sur les disparitions forcées ou involontaires

Additif

MISSION AU HONDURAS*

Résumé

À l'invitation du Gouvernement hondurien, une délégation du Groupe de travail sur les disparitions forcées ou involontaires s'est rendue au Honduras du 31 janvier au 2 février 2007. Le Groupe de travail était représenté par son président-rapporteur, M. Santiago Corcuera, et par l'un de ses membres, M. Darko Götllicher. La visite s'inscrivait dans le cadre d'une tournée régionale dans quatre pays d'Amérique centrale où un grand nombre d'affaires demeurent en suspens.

Cette mission avait principalement pour objet de recueillir des informations susceptibles de permettre d'élucider le plus grand nombre possible de cas de disparition forcée au Honduras inscrits dans les registres du Groupe de travail. Elle avait aussi pour objectif de discuter des mesures qui on pu éventuellement être prises par le Gouvernement, en coopération avec le Groupe de travail, pour traiter les cas de disparition forcée à la lumière des normes internationales relatives aux droits de l'homme, en particulier la Déclaration sur la protection de toutes les personnes contre les disparitions forcées (la Déclaration), contenue dans la résolution 47/133 adoptée par l'Assemblée générale le 18 décembre 1992.

_

^{*} Le résumé du présent rapport est distribué dans toutes les langues officielles. Le rapport proprement dit, qui est joint en annexe au résumé, est distribué uniquement dans la langue originale et en anglais.

Au cours de sa mission, le Groupe de travail s'est entretenu avec des représentants du Commissariat national aux droits de l'homme, du Secrétariat à la sécurité, des services du Procureur général, de la Cour suprême de justice, y compris sa chambre constitutionnelle, de la Commission parlementaire des droits de l'homme, du Secrétariat à l'intérieur et à la justice, du Ministère de la sécurité et du Secrétariat aux relations extérieures. Avant de tenir une conférence de presse à l'issue de la mission, le Groupe de travail a communiqué au Secrétariat aux relations extérieures ses observations et conclusions préliminaires.

Le Groupe de travail a également rencontré des membres de diverses organisations civiles et des proches de victimes de disparitions forcées, avec lesquels il a pu dialoguer ouvertement et objectivement.

Le présent rapport est divisé en six chapitres. Les trois premiers, qui ont un caractère général, portent notamment sur l'objet de la mission et les réunions qui ont été tenues. Le troisième chapitre présente le contexte historique et politique des disparitions forcées au Honduras.

Le chapitre 4 contient une présentation générale du cadre constitutionnel et juridique applicable aux disparitions forcées au Honduras. Y sont analysés la reconnaissance des droits de l'homme dans la Constitution, les recours ou garanties juridiques prévus par la Constitution, les traités internationaux auxquels le Honduras est partie, et le fait que la disparition forcée n'est pas qualifiée de délit dans le Code pénal hondurien.

Les deux derniers chapitres abordent les mesures adoptées par le Gouvernement hondurien tant pour éclaircir les cas des personnes disparues que pour appliquer les dispositions de la Déclaration dans le pays. Ils examinent également les obstacles que rencontre actuellement le pays pour appliquer la Déclaration.

Le chapitre 5 traite des questions d'impunité et du droit à la vérité et à la justice. En ce qui concerne l'impunité, le Groupe de travail a reçu des informations selon lesquelles les auteurs présumés de violations graves des droits de l'homme non seulement se trouvent en liberté, mais ne font en outre l'objet d'aucune enquête ni d'une quelconque condamnation, voire, dans certains cas, exercent des fonctions publiques.

S'agissant du droit à la vérité et à la justice, le rapport précise qu'à ce jour aucun mandat d'arrêt n'a été délivré en rapport avec les cas de disparition forcée qui n'ont pas encore été éclaircis. De même, le rapport rappelle qu'il incombe à l'État hondurien d'enquêter sur ces disparitions et de sanctionner les responsables, tant sur le plan pénal que civil. À cet égard, certaines des mesures existantes pour procéder aux enquêtes et donner suite aux engagements de l'État pris devant des organismes internationaux sont analysées.

Le chapitre 6 traite des efforts en vue de rechercher des personnes disparues et du droit à une réparation intégrale. Il y est précisé que le Gouvernement hondurien déploie des efforts louables pour rechercher les personnes disparues et respecter le droit des familles des victimes à une réparation juste et adéquate. Néanmoins, selon le Groupe de travail, il serait souhaitable que l'État mette en place un plan ou un programme de recherche des personnes disparues. Dans le cadre de ce plan, qui devrait bénéficier de la participation active de la société civile, il devrait être possible d'avoir accès à toutes les informations pertinentes, dans l'exercice du droit à la

vérité. Enfin, le Groupe de travail propose l'adoption d'une procédure de déclaration d'absence pour disparition forcée, laquelle permettrait que les dispositions en matière de droit de la famille et droit des successions soient correctement appliquées sans préjudice du droit à la vérité, à la justice et à une réparation juste et adéquate.

Sur la base de ces constatations, le Groupe de travail évoque un certain nombre de recommandations qui, il l'espère, seront examinées et mises en œuvre par l'État hondurien le plus tôt possible.

Parmi les recommandations figurant dans le présent rapport, le Groupe de travail insiste tout particulièrement sur les points suivants:

- a) Il est recommandé au pouvoir législatif hondurien de consacrer la disparition forcée comme une infraction autonome dans le Code pénal, et d'adopter des dispositions législatives visant à:
 - i) Établir des peines qui soient en rapport avec l'extrême gravité du délit;
 - ii) Respecter le principe selon lequel la caractéristique essentielle du comportement délictuel est d'être une infraction de caractère continu;
 - iii) Établir que ni l'obéissance à un supérieur ni l'état d'urgence ou d'exception ne peuvent exclure ou atténuer la responsabilité, et tenir compte des dispositions de l'article 17 3) de la Déclaration et de l'article VII de la Convention interaméricaine sur la disparition forcée de personnes, concernant le caractère imprescriptible du crime en question;
 - iv) Prévoir que les responsables de disparitions forcées ne peuvent être jugés que par les juridictions de droit commun compétentes, à l'exclusion de toute autre juridiction spéciale, en particulier militaire;
- b) Le Groupe de travail suggère respectueusement que le Honduras devienne partie à la nouvelle Convention internationale pour la protection de toutes les personnes contre les disparitions forcées;
- c) Le Groupe de travail souhaite recommander au Gouvernement hondurien d'adopter des mesures donnant effectivement effet aux dispositions de l'article 5 de la Déclaration, qui prévoit que, outre les sanctions pénales applicables, les auteurs présumés de disparition forcée engagent également leur responsabilité civile générale. Autrement dit, et conformément à l'article 16, paragraphe 1, de la Déclaration, ils doivent indemniser les victimes pour le préjudice subi et être relevés de toute fonction officielle;
- d) Malgré les efforts louables faits par le Gouvernement hondurien pour rechercher les personnes disparues, le Groupe de travail considère que des progrès et de meilleurs résultats pourraient être obtenus s'il existait un mécanisme institutionnel de recherche des personnes disparues. Il serait souhaitable que ce mécanisme soit créé en vertu d'un texte législatif, qu'il soit conforme aux Principes de Paris et qu'il prévoit la possibilité d'avoir pleinement accès aux informations qui seraient nécessaires, dans l'exercice du droit à la vérité;

A/HRC/7/2/Add.1 page 4

- e) Dans le cadre du mécanisme proposé au paragraphe d), le Groupe de travail estime qu'il faudrait établir un plan de réparation complète qui permette aux victimes d'être indemnisées de manière adéquate et leur donne les moyens de se réadapter de manière aussi complète que possible, dans le plein respect du droit à la justice et à la vérité;
- f) Le Groupe de travail invite les organes gouvernementaux et non gouvernementaux à renforcer les liens de coopération devant permettre de résoudre les problèmes liés aux cas de disparition forcée qui n'ont pas encore été élucidés. Il a recommandé aux organisations de familles de disparus et aux autres organisations de défense des droits de l'homme d'entretenir une relation étroite et de coordonner leur action afin de renforcer leurs activités et d'en assurer le succès.

Annexe

REPORT OF THE WORKING GROUP ON ENFORCED OR INVOLUNTARY DISAPPEARANCES

MISSION TO HONDURAS

CONTENTS

		Paragraphs	Page
I.	INTRODUCTION	1 - 2	6
II.	GENERAL OBSERVATIONS	3 - 5	6
III.	HISTORICAL AND POLITICAL CONTEXT	6 - 16	6
IV.	CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK APPLYING TO ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCES	17	8
	A. Recognition of human rights in the Constitution	17 - 18	8
	B. Legal remedies or safeguards offered by the Constitution	19 - 25	9
	C. International human rights treaties	26 - 28	10
	D. Failure to class enforced disappearance as an offence in the Criminal Code	29 - 40	10
V.	IMPUNITY AND THE RIGHT TO TRUTH AND JUSTICE	41 - 51	12
VI.	THE SEARCH FOR MISSING PERSONS AND THE RIGHT TO FULL, FAIR AND ADEQUATE REPARATION	52 - 59	14
VII	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	60 - 66	15

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. At the invitation of the Government of Honduras, the Working Group on Enforced or Involuntary Disappearances visited the country from 31 January to 2 February 2007. The Working Group was represented by its Chairman-Rapporteur, Santiago Corcuera, and one of its members, Darko Götllicher. The mission was part of a regional visit to four Central American countries with high numbers of cases awaiting clarification: Guatemala, Honduras, El Salvador and Nicaragua. The Working Group visited Guatemala in September 2006 and, immediately following the visit to Honduras, went to El Salvador. As for Nicaragua, the Working Group is pursuing its dialogue with the authorities.
- 2. The purposes of the mission were, firstly, to gather information which might serve as a basis for clarifying as many as possible of the cases of enforced disappearance in Honduras which are still pending in the Working Group's files. The second purpose was to discuss possible efforts which might be made by the Government, in cooperation with the Working Group, to deal with cases of enforced disappearance in the light of international human rights standards, especially the Declaration on the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance ("the Declaration"), issued by the General Assembly in resolution 47/133 of 18 December 1992.

II. GENERAL OBSERVATIONS

- 3. During the visit the Working Group held interviews with representatives of the National Commissioner for Human Rights, the Secretariat of Security, the Office of the Attorney-General, the Supreme Court, including the Constitutional Court, the Congress's Human Rights Commission, the Ministry of the Interior and Justice, the Ministry of Security and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Before holding a press conference at the end of the visit, the Working Group informed the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of its observations and preliminary conclusions.
- 4. The Working Group also interviewed members of various organizations representing civil society and the relatives of victims of enforced disappearance, with whom it held an open and objective dialogue. In order to obtain a balanced picture, the Working Group considers it essential to hold information-gathering meetings with both official and civil-society sources, especially those concentrating on the search for victims of enforced disappearance.
- 5. The Working Group expressed its deep appreciation for the considerable support provided by the Government of Honduras in order to ensure the success of the mission. Similarly, the Group was able to note a constructive attitude on the part of the public officials it encountered towards the task of devising legal machinery and government policies aimed at clarifying the cases of enforced disappearance, and implementing a national policy of respect for human rights.

III. HISTORICAL AND POLITICAL CONTEXT

6. Honduras is situated in the centre of the Central American isthmus, and covers an area of 112,492 square kilometres. It shares borders with the republics of El Salvador, Guatemala and Nicaragua, and is bounded to the north by the Atlantic Ocean and the Caribbean Sea and to the south by the Pacific Ocean.

- 7. Honduras is a democratic and constitutional republic. The President of the Republic heads the executive and is directly elected by simple majority vote for a term of four years. The 1957 Constitution abolished the office of Vice-President, which was reinstated in 2002. The single-chamber Congress consists of 128 deputies and an equal number of alternates, elected for a term of four years. The judiciary consists of the Supreme Court of Justice, courts of appeal and the courts and other judicial bodies established by law.
- 8. Since its independence in 1821, Honduras has witnessed a number of rebellions and changes of government, especially those led by the armed forces during the twentieth century. A first coup d'état took place in 1956, carried out by a military junta. Owing to the tremendous power of the armed forces in Honduras at that time, the 1956 coup was followed by another in 1963, another in 1972, the fourth in 1975 and the last in 1978.
- 9. Only in 1980 were presidential elections held in the country, nearly 30 years after the armed forces seized power. Yet the armed forces retained a decisive role in the life of the country, until in 1999 the high command handed over control of the armed forces to the President, putting an end to the military's freedom of action which had lasted over 40 years.
- 10. As a result of the armed conflicts which took place in El Salvador and Nicaragua during the 1970s and 1980s, the armed forces in Honduras stepped up their counter-insurgency activities. Between 1980 and 1984, Honduran security forces carried out a systematic campaign of human rights violations, principally arbitrary detentions, torture, enforced disappearances and extrajudicial executions in the country. The most frequent targets were political activists, who were thought to be linked to the revolutionary movements in the region.
- 11. Testimony given by officers involved in these incidents indicates that most of these human rights violations were carried out by rebellious military units and the famous "Battalion 316", a death squad under the command of military intelligence officials.
- 12. During the 1980s, Honduras also became a launching pad for the anti-Sandinist forces known as the Contras, who were fighting the Marxist Government of Nicaragua. According to reports, the Contras were operating with support from the Salvadoran armed forces which were fighting leftist guerrillas in that country. It has also been reported that the Contras were responsible for some of the enforced disappearances in Honduras.
- 13. On 29 December 1993, Honduras's National Commissioner for Human Rights released a report entitled "Los hechos hablan por sí mismos: informe preliminar sobre los desaparecidos en Honduras 1980-1993" ["The facts speak for themselves: Preliminary report on missing persons in Honduras, 1980-1993"]. This report was a landmark in the modern history of Honduras, constituting the first acknowledgement of the Government's responsibility for the disappearance of over 180 Hondurans and foreigners during the 1980s.
- 14. The report assigns responsibility for those disappearances to members of the Honduran armed forces and the Nicaraguan rebels operating in Honduras, and also states that some Argentine and United States intelligence units were instrumental in training the alleged perpetrators. The report also includes a controversial military document according to which the

chief of the armed forces in 1993, General Luis Alonzo Discua, was commander of Battalion 316 in 1984. The report deplores the fact that at the time of its release none of the cases had been investigated, and no one had been punished.

- 15. Following the publication of the report, the Government undertook to prosecute those responsible for the violations, and to that end instructed the Special Attorney for Human Rights to investigate them. This post was created in 1994 as part of a series of government reforms designed, among other things, to reduce the army's political influence and reform the police.
- 16. At the international level, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, in an unprecedented action, found in 1988 that a practice of disappearances carried out or tolerated by the Honduran authorities existed between 1981 and 1984, and that Honduras bore responsibility for involuntary disappearance in a specific case. The Court also found that the disappearances constituted a failure by the Government to guarantee the human rights affected by that practice, namely, the right to personal liberty, the right to personal integrity and the right to life. Meanwhile, the Working Group has received 203 cases of enforced disappearance for consideration. Most of these disappearances were allegedly committed by members of the National Office of Investigations. Over the years, the Working Group has received communications from the Government containing information on the investigations carried out in the country to find the victims of enforced disappearance. However, and despite the Government's efforts, a large number of cases have not been clarified, owing to the fact that, if the Working Group is to be able to declare a case clarified, the fate or whereabouts of the victim must have been established. Sources have kept the Working Group informed of efforts made by the families of the victims to ascertain the whereabouts of their loved ones. Currently 125 cases are awaiting clarification.

IV. CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL FRAMEWORK APPLYING TO ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCES

A. Recognition of human rights in the Constitution

- 17. The Constitution of Honduras enshrines many of the rights set out in international human rights law. Title III, on declarations, rights and guarantees, lists individual rights, social rights, children's rights and rights in the fields of labour, social security, health, education and culture and housing.
- 18. The Constitution makes no specific mention of enforced disappearance. However, it does safeguard all the rights which are violated when this offence is committed, such as the right to life, the right to personal liberty, the right to due process, physical, psychological and moral integrity, including the prohibition of torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading punishment or treatment and the prohibition of arbitrary detention.

¹ Velásquez Rodríguez case. Judgement of 29 July 1988. Series C, No. 4, para. 148.

B. Legal remedies or safeguards offered by the Constitution

1. The remedy of amparo and habeas corpus

- 19. The Constitution also sets out safeguards, including the remedy of habeas corpus and *amparo*, as well as the option to seek a declaration of unconstitutionality and the review of legislation. A habeas corpus application may be made when a person is unlawfully detained or deprived of the right to enjoy individual liberty or, while in detention, suffers mistreatment, torture or any coercion, restriction or disturbance which is not necessary to ensure his or her individual security or order in the prison. An *amparo* application may be lodged in order to uphold or recover the rights acknowledged in the Constitution, or to secure a declaration, in specific cases, that a law or act of authority is not applicable because it violates the rights acknowledged in the Constitution.
- 20. The Constitutional Justice Act entered into force on 23 September 2005. Its purpose is to "elaborate on constitutional safeguards and measures upholding the constitutional legal order". The Act also regulates such measures as *amparo*, habeas corpus, habeas data and applications for constitutional review. Under article 2 of the Act, its provisions must be interpreted and applied in accordance with international human rights instruments which are in force in Honduras.
- 21. It is important to emphasize that the Constitutional Justice Act specifies the right to lodge an *amparo* application in order to uphold or recover not only the rights set out in the Constitution, but also those laid down in "treaties, conventions and other international instruments". In this regard, both the rights acknowledged in the Constitution and those set forth in international law enjoy protection under the law.

2. National Commissioner for Human Rights

22. In 1994 the Constitution was amended to set up the office of National Commissioner for Human Rights. The role of the National Commissioner is to guarantee the rights acknowledged in the Constitution and in the international treaties to which Honduras is a party. The functions and structure of the office are set out in the National Commissioner for Human Rights Act of 21 November 1995.

3. Legal status of international treaties

- 23. The Constitution lays down that international treaties entered into by Honduras form part of domestic law, and that in the event of conflict between the treaty and the laws, the international treaty shall prevail. In article 17, the Constitution also states that "when an international treaty affects a constitutional provision, it must be adopted through the same procedure as that governing an amendment to the Constitution before being ratified by the executive branch".
- 24. In that regard, it is important to emphasize the content of paragraphs 3 and 4 of article 76 of the Constitutional Justice Act, relating to international treaties. Paragraph 3 provides that the

² Constitutional Justice Act, art. 41.1.

application may be made "when at the time of approval of an international treaty which affects a provision of the Constitution, the procedure laid down in article 17 of the Constitution is not followed", while paragraph 4 provides that the application may be made "when an ordinary statute contradicts the provisions of an international treaty or convention to which Honduras is a party". As regards the international treaties in force in the country, and in particular the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons, it should be mentioned that none was ratified in accordance with the provisions of article 17.

4. Amnesty Act

25. In 1991 a broad-ranging Amnesty Act entered into force, which applies to all persons who have been convicted, accused or investigated for political offences or related ordinary offences. In that regard, the Supreme Court has handed down two decisions. The first indicates that an amnesty cannot be granted before the judicial authorities have properly investigated the case. In the second, the Court declared the Act unconstitutional because its provisions were too vague and did not apply to ordinary offences.

C. International human rights treaties

- 26. Honduras is a party to the seven principal human rights treaties the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families.
- 27. Honduras has also ratified the first Optional Protocol to the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, the Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, the Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict and the Optional Protocol on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography. In July 2002, Honduras ratified the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court.
- 28. At the regional level, Honduras is a party to the American Convention on Human Rights, the "Pact of San José", the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons and the Inter-American Convention on the Prevention, Punishment and Eradication of Violence against Women, the "Convention of Belem do Para".

D. Failure to class enforced disappearance as an offence in the Criminal Code

- 29. Carrying out enforced disappearance is not classified as a separate offence in the Honduran Criminal Code, as required by the Declaration (art. 3) and the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons (art. 1, para. (d)).
- 30. Honduras submitted its initial report on the implementation of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights to the Human Rights Committee in 2005. In its concluding

observations adopted on 13 December 2006 (eighty-eighth session), the Committee expressed its concern that the fact that enforced disappearance is not qualified as a crime in the Criminal Code has contributed to impunity, and recommended that Honduras should amend the Criminal Code in order to include the crime of enforced disappearance.³

31. During its meetings with government officials and members of the legislature, the Working Group raised this issue and observed a positive attitude towards the resolution of the problem of the lack of criminal legislation in relation to enforced disappearance. Both in the press release issued at the end of the mission and in the preliminary note submitted to the Human Rights Council on 20 March 2007, the Working Group referred to this situation, and drew great hope from the fact that the Honduran delegation, which was participating as a concerned State at that session of the Council, stated that it had already taken steps leading towards the drafting of a bill or amendments to criminal legislation, and for that purpose was even working towards the signing of a technical assistance agreement with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights.

1. Elements required for the categorization of enforced disappearance as an offence

- 32. The Working Group considers that, in order for the categorization of enforced disappearance to be in keeping with international instruments in this field, it should display the following features.
- 33. As regards the punishment which should be set for this offence, the Working Group wishes to refer to the provision of article 4 of the Declaration that the punishment should be commensurate with the extreme seriousness of the offence. Accordingly, it is advisable that when considering the punishment which should be set, a comparative study of Honduran criminal law should be carried out, in order to ensure that less serious offences than enforced disappearance do not incur more severe punishments than that which is to be set for enforced disappearance.
- 34. Concerning the categorization of the offence of enforced disappearance, the Working Group wishes to point out that, as article 17 of the Declaration states, the essential characteristic of the unlawful act is that it is a continuing offence, in that when this behaviour occurs, its effects make themselves felt continuously, from the time when the first act is performed, such as detention, arrest or any other form of deprivation of liberty, followed by a refusal to acknowledge the perpetration of the act or to supply information on the fate or whereabouts of the victim, and until such time as the fate or whereabouts of the victim are clearly determined.
- 35. Concerning the perpetrator of the offence, it is important for the legislation in question to mention the content of article 6, paragraph 1, and article 7 of the Declaration, to the effect that "[n]o order or instruction of any public authority, civilian, military or other, may be invoked to justify an enforced disappearance ..." and that "[n]o circumstances whatsoever, whether a threat of war, a state of war, internal political instability or any other public emergency, may be invoked to justify enforced disappearances".

³ Document CCPR/C/HND/CO/1, para. 5.

- 36. Concerning the question of the possibility that criminal responsibility for the commission of this offence may cease as a result of prescription, the Working Group wishes to draw attention to the provisions of article 17, paragraph 3, of the Declaration, to the effect that "[s]tatutes of limitations, where they exist, relating to acts of enforced disappearance shall be substantial and commensurate with the extreme seriousness of the offence". Nevertheless, it is obviously preferable for criminal legislation to rule out the possibility that this extremely serious offence might not be subject to prescription, as may be inferred from article VII of the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons.
- 37. When this offence is committed in a context or situation in which it becomes a crime against humanity, it should not be subject to prescription in any circumstances. In this regard, it is recommended that Honduras should become a party to the Convention on the Non-Applicability of Statutory Limitations to War Crimes and Crimes against Humanity.
- 38. It is also recommended that the legal reform in this area should be in keeping with the provision of article 16, paragraph 2, of the Declaration that persons who have perpetrated enforced disappearances "shall be tried only by the competent ordinary courts in each State, and not by any other special tribunal, in particular military courts", which is in conformity with the provisions of article IX of the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons.
- 39. The Working Group wishes to remind Honduras, in order that it should be borne in mind in the legal reform in this area, that under article 5 of the Declaration, in addition to the applicable criminal penalties, the alleged perpetrators of enforced disappearances bear general civil liability, that is, they must compensate the victims for harm caused and must suffer administrative disqualification, in accordance with article 16, paragraph 1, of the Declaration. That is the case without prejudice to the international responsibility which Honduras bears in accordance with the principles of international law, in the light of the above-mentioned article 5 of the Declaration.
- 40. The Working Group expresses the hope that the legislative process announced by the Government of Honduras will be duly completed and that the legislation in this area will not be confined to categorizing the offence of enforced disappearance as a separate offence, but will also address the other issues recommended in this report.

V. IMPUNITY AND THE RIGHT TO TRUTH AND JUSTICE

41. As already mentioned, the Working Group was informed that in 1991 a broad-ranging Amnesty Act entered into force, which applies to all persons who have been convicted, accused or investigated for political offences or related ordinary offences. In that regard, the Supreme Court has handed down two decisions. The first indicates that an amnesty cannot be granted before the judicial authorities have properly investigated the case. In the second, the Court declared the Act unconstitutional because the laws are too vague and do not apply to ordinary offences.

- 42. Although article 205, paragraph 16, of the Constitution does not allow the adoption of amnesty laws for offences other than political and related offences,⁴ the Working Group is concerned because, using the yardstick of the Declaration, certain similar measures exist in Honduras which result in a de facto amnesty for persons responsible for serious violations of human rights, including enforced disappearances.
- 43. In this regard, the Working Group was informed that alleged perpetrators of serious violations of human rights, including disappearances, are not only at large, but in addition are not the subject of any effective investigation, still less any conviction by a court. What is more, according to reliable reports, some of the alleged perpetrators of enforced disappearance (repeated reference was made to former members of "Battalion 316") are still active, and in some cases occupy public posts in various organizations, a situation contrary to the provisions of article 16.1 of the Declaration.
- 44. In connection with the above, the Working Group was informed that to date no arrest warrants have been issued in the cases of enforced disappearance which the Working Group still has pending in its files, a situation contrary to the provisions of article 13, paragraph 6, of the Declaration.
- 45. In this regard, it is pertinent to mention that primary responsibility for investigating cases of enforced disappearance and punishing those responsible for this offence is borne by the State, so that even if civil-society organizations might display reluctance or lack of interest in cooperating by providing information on pending cases, the State should not suspend its investigations or close the cases in question, but on the contrary open State-run channels of information which might still be protected.
- 46. Under article 5 of the Declaration, in addition to the applicable criminal penalties, the alleged perpetrators of enforced disappearances bear general civil liability, that is, they must compensate the victims for harm caused and must suffer administrative disqualification, in accordance with article 16, paragraph [1], of the Declaration. That is the case without prejudice to the international responsibility which Honduras bears in accordance with the principles of international law, in the light of the above-mentioned article 5 of the Declaration.
- 47. In order to overcome the prevailing situation of impunity, there is a clear need to bring the legal framework applying to enforced disappearances into line with international human rights law, as recommended in this report.
- 48. According to official reports, progress has been made in the investigations, and it was pointed out to the Working Group that, despite the material and economic difficulties involved, the Government is making considerable efforts. For example, it was emphasized that in the field of forensic medicine *ante mortem* information is being updated and a forensic team from a

⁴ Article V of the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons states that "the forced disappearance of persons shall not be considered a political [offence] for purposes of extradition".

South American country has been engaged to help in identifying the bodies which have been exhumed. It was emphasized that 68 skeletons have been recovered and 4 sets of human remains have been identified and returned to the families concerned.

- 49. The Working Group was also informed of the existence and operation of the Inter-agency Human Rights Group, which is coordinated by the Deputy Procurator-General and the representatives of the Ministries of Labour, the Honduran Institute for the Family (INHFA) and the Honduran Institute for Women (INAHM). It was also reported to have representatives of the Attorney-General, the Public Prosecutor, the Supreme Court and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, in its capacity as Executive Secretariat. The purpose of this machinery, according to reports, is to focus on the State's commitments via-a-vis international organizations, in terms of the drafting and presentation of reports, as well as dealing with cases pending in the inter-American system and maintaining channels of communication with civil-society organizations in relation to human rights.
- 50. Notwithstanding the above, there is a need for the Government of Honduras to display greater resolve to initiate and sustain effective investigations into alleged perpetrators of enforced disappearances. To that end, as in any case involving offences committed by State officials, it is advisable that the attorneys or ministerial authorities responsible for carrying out such investigations, as well as those with the power to arrest the alleged perpetrators and bring them before the judicial authorities, should be independent of the executive branch and possess material resources and adequate staff who are well trained to perform their tasks.
- 51. The launching of a special attorney's office with the above-mentioned features would allay the concerns expressed to the Working Group by various non-official stakeholders, who argued in particular for the Criminal Investigation Directorate to operate functionally under the Public Prosecutor's office, but fall administratively under the Ministry of Public Security.

VI. THE SEARCH FOR MISSING PERSONS AND THE RIGHT TO FULL, FAIR AND ADEQUATE REPARATION

- 52. Since its establishment, the Working Group has received for consideration 203 cases of enforced disappearance in Honduras, dating principally from 1981-1984. The Working Group still has 125 cases pending clarification as to the whereabouts or fate of the victims in these cases. As already mentioned, the main purpose of this mission was to gather information which might serve as a basis for clarifying as many as possible of the cases which are still pending in its files. The Working Group wishes to express its satisfaction at having gathered information from official and non-governmental sources which may possibly help to clarify some of these cases. On the basis of information supplied by the Government of Honduras, the Working Group decided, at its eighty-second session, that two cases would be considered to have been clarified if, within six months of having been informed of the response, the relatives do not make comments which call for further consideration by the Working Group.
- 53. However, during the visit, the Working Group received a new request for acceptance of a case of enforced disappearance which occurred in December 2006. The case was transmitted to the Government of Honduras after being studied by the Working Group, and it is hoped that the authorities will launch appropriate investigations with a view to clarification.

- 54. The Working Group found that the Government of Honduras is engaged in some praiseworthy efforts to search for disappeared persons. The Working Group also noted the praiseworthy efforts of the Government of Honduras to ensure respect for the right of the relatives of victims of enforced disappearances to fair and adequate reparation.
- 55. However, the Working Group is convinced that greater progress could be made and better results obtained through the launching of a search mechanism for missing persons which constitutes a genuine State-run plan or programme.
- 56. For that purpose, the search plan or programme should be entrusted to a body created by act of parliament which displays the characteristics of a national human rights institution, along the lines set out in the Principles relating to the Status of National Institutions for the promotion and protection of human rights (the Paris Principles). In other words, it should benefit from the involvement of civil-society organizations, and particularly that of the relatives and loved ones of missing persons, in accordance with article 13, paragraphs 1 and 4, of the Declaration.
- 57. This body should also benefit from the active involvement of any authorities which might possess important information on pending cases and might still be under the cloak of State secrecy for security reasons.
- 58. The Working Group learned that the Transparency and Access to Public Information Act had recently been enacted. Article 17 of the Act lists cases in which public information must be classed as restricted. Notwithstanding any restriction which may exist under Honduran law, it would be essential for the body to be set up to implement the search plan or programme for missing persons to have full access to all important information, on the understanding that the body should maintain the necessary confidentiality when a specific case so demands, especially with regard to criminal investigations being carried out by the competent investigating body, which, as has already been pointed out, must also be independent of the executive branch.
- 59. The search plan or programme suggested in the above paragraphs should not stand in the way of the introduction of a system of enforced disappearance declarations, which would not entail the suspension or halting of investigations to determine the fate or whereabouts of the victims and punish those responsible, but would make it possible to properly apply relevant rules in relation to family law and inheritance, as well as opening up the possibility that the State might acknowledge responsibility and embark on the development of a programme of comprehensive redress for the relatives and loved ones of the missing persons, in keeping with article 19 of the Declaration; in other words, one which should include adequate compensation and other reparation such as the fullest possible rehabilitation, in a spirit of full respect for the right to justice and truth.

VII. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

60. Firstly, the members of the Working Group wish to express their deep appreciation for the considerable support provided by the Government of Honduras in order to ensure the success of this mission. The Working Group was able to perform its tasks quite freely, interviewing senior officials of the Government of Honduras and members of various non-governmental organizations and organizations of relatives of victims of enforced disappearance, with whom it held an open and objective dialogue. In order to obtain a

balanced picture, the Working Group considers it essential to hold information-gathering meetings with both official and civil-society sources, especially those concentrating on the search for victims of enforced disappearance.

- 61. The principal purposes of the visit were to gather information which might serve as a basis for clarifying cases of enforced disappearance in Honduras and to discuss possible efforts which might be made by the Government, in cooperation with the Working Group, to deal with cases of enforced disappearance in the light of international human rights standards, especially the Declaration.
- 62. As regards clarification of cases pending before the Working Group, it may be concluded that, despite some praiseworthy efforts on the part of the Government to clarify some of these cases, those efforts appear to have been isolated and unsystematic, underlining the clear lack of a comprehensive search plan for missing persons.
- 63. The same conclusion may be drawn with regard to a few favourable outcomes in relation to redress for relatives of victims of enforced disappearance.
- 64. Concerning the legal framework in Honduras applying to enforced disappearances, the Working Group concludes that major gaps remain, particularly in relation to the lack of a separate statutory definition which adequately covers the offence of enforced disappearance. The Working Group welcomes reports that Honduras has established contact with the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights in order to secure the technical assistance required to implement the necessary legislative reforms in this area.
- 65. As a result of the existing legal loopholes, and other limitations detailed in this report, a climate of impunity has prevailed in Honduras equivalent to the measures referred to in article 18 of the Declaration, which should be avoided.
- 66. In the light of the above, the Working Group wishes to put forward the following recommendations, while expressing the hope that they will be taken up and put into effect by the Government of Honduras as soon as possible.
- (a) It is recommended for the attention of the Honduran Parliament that enforced disappearance should be classed as a separate offence in the Criminal Code, and that the legislation to be adopted should:
 - i) Specify penalties which are commensurate with the extremely serious nature of the offence;
 - ii) Respect the principle that the essential characteristic of the unlawful conduct is that it is a continuing offence;
 - iii) Not class orders from a superior or emergency situations as factors which relieve the perpetrator of responsibility or diminish it, but take account of the provisions of article 17, paragraph 3, of the Declaration and article VII of the Inter-American Convention on Forced Disappearance of Persons, in relation to the statute of limitations for the offence in question;

- iv) Stipulate that those responsible for the offence of enforced disappearance shall be tried only by the competent ordinary courts, in each State, and not by any other special tribunal, in particular military courts;
- (b) The Working Group respectfully suggests that Honduras should become a party to the new International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from Enforced Disappearance;
- (c) The Working Group wishes to recommend to the Government of Honduras that it should take steps to put into effect the provisions of article 5 of the Declaration, which provides that, in addition to the applicable criminal penalties, the alleged perpetrators of enforced disappearances bear general civil liability. That is, they must compensate the victims for harm caused and must suffer administrative disqualification, in accordance with article 16, paragraph 1, of the Declaration;
- (d) Despite the praiseworthy efforts made by the Government of Honduras to search for missing persons, the Working Group considers that greater progress could be made and better results obtained if there was an institutional search mechanism for missing persons. It is desirable that such a mechanism should be set up through legislation, that it should comply with the Paris Principles and that it should enjoy full access to important information in pursuance of the right to truth;
- (e) In the context of the mechanism suggested in the preceding paragraph, the Working Group considers that a comprehensive programme of redress should be instituted, to include adequate compensation and other means of redress, such as the fullest possible rehabilitation, in a spirit of full respect for the right to justice and truth;
- (f) The Working Group urges the governmental and non-governmental bodies to establish cooperative links with a view to solving the problems related to cases of enforced disappearance which have not yet been clarified. It also recommends that the organizations of relatives of missing persons and other human rights organizations should maintain close links and coordination so as to strengthen their activities and ensure the achievement of their objectives;
- (g) The Working Group invites the Government of Honduras to submit to the Working Group, within 90 days from the date of publication of this report, a timetable indicating the steps that will be taken to put into effect the recommendations of the Working Group, the dates scheduled for each of these steps and the dates on which it is expected to complete the implementation of the recommendations.
